ECF filed: 3/8/16
	Resubmitted: 3/09/16
	Second Resubmission: 3/10/16 File
	Mar 11 2016 11:1
	Tracie K. Lindema SUPREME COURT NO. 69065 Clerk of Supreme
	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
	DAVID JOHN KAPLAN, Appellant
	-V-
	CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE, ALLEN DUTRA Respondent.
	Bankruptcy Case No.: BK-N-10-54568-GWZ
from t	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF he United States Bankruptcy Court District of Nevada
Nevada	COPHER P. BURKE, ESQ. Bar No.: 004093
	mas Street evada 89509 ·ke@charter.net
	<u>ke@cilaiter.llet</u>
<u>attycbur</u> Attornev	for Appellant: IOHN KAPLAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID JOHN KAPLAN Appellant. vs.

Supreme Court No. 69065

ARGUMENT

1. Bankruptcy debtor's in Nevada are entitled to the state exemptions.

Upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition, an estate is created consisting of all legal and equitable interests of the debtor in property as of the date of the filing of the petition. 11 U.S.C. §541(a)(1). In return, Section 522(d) allows a debtor to exempt certain property from his or her estate, protecting it from creditors. But the Bankruptcy Code provides an opt-out provision whereby a state can either require the debtor to exempt property under the state law exemptions or grant the debtor the option of choosing between state and federal exemptions. See 11 U.S.C. §522(b)(2). Nevada is an opt-out state. See NRS §21.090(3) and *In re Kane*, 366 B.R. 477, 489 (Bankr.D.Nev. 2006).

As such, the validity of a claimed state exemption is controlled by the applicable state law. *In re Goldman*, 70 F.3d 1028, 1029 (9th Cir. 1995). Therefore, Nevada law governs the substantive issues regarding this exemption. Here, the Bankruptcy Court acknowledged that this "issue is solely and purely a matter of state law". (Ex. of Rec. '6' p.33. ln. 6-7)

2. Exemptions are liberally construed.

Exemptions are to be liberally construed in favor of the debtor who claims the exemption. *In re Arrol,* 170 F.3d 934, 937 (9th Cir. 1999); *In re Christensen,* 122 Nev. 1309, 1312 (Nev. 2006) ("We liberally and beneficially construe our state exemption statutes in favor of the debtor."). "The purpose of Nevada's exemption statutes is 'to secure to the debtor the necessary means of gaining a livelihood.' " *Savage v. Pierson,* 123 Nev. 86, 90 (2007) (quoting *Kreig v. Fellows,* 21 Nev. 307, 310 (1892)). If a statutory phase is left undefined, the court construes the phase, according to its plain and ordinary meaning. *In re Resort at Summerlin Lit.,* 122Nev. 177, 180 (2006). The court generally presumes, that the plain meaning of the words reflect the legislature's intent, unless the reading violates the spirit of the act or leads to an absurd result. *Villanueva v. State*, 117 Nev. 664, 667 (2001). Here, as shown below, it would be an absurd result and negate the statutes liberal presumption, to read the statute as limiting a debtor to only one personal injury exemption of \$16,150.

3. The burden in objecting to Kaplan's exemption is on the Trustee.

A claim of exemption is presumed valid, and the burden is on the objecting party, i.e. the Trustee in this case, to prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that an exemption is improperly claimed. *In re Nicholson*, 435 B.R. 622, 634 (9th Cir. BAP 2010); Fed.R. Bankr.P. 4003(c). The court may also be aided by looking to well- reasoned decisions from other jurisdictions. *Takahashi v*. *Loomis Armored Car Service*, 625 F.2d 314, 316, (9th Cir. 1980).

The court must interpret a statute consistent with the intent of the legislature, must ascribe an intent which will accomplish a reasonable result, and must resolve any doubt as to legislative intent so as to avoid an absurd result. *Steward v. Steward*, 11 Nev. 295, 302 (1995). A statute may be interpreted by considering the reason or spirit of the law, the causes which induced the legislature to enact it,

and the entire subject matter and policy for the law. *Cragun v. Nevada Pub. Employees' Ret. Bd.*, 92 Nev. 202, 205 (1976). When interpreting a statutory provision, Nevada courts look first to the plain language of the statute, and ascribe words their plain meanings. *Savage v. Pierson*, 123 Nev. 86,88 (2007). A bankruptcy court is bound by the state's rules of construction when interpreting a state statute. *Goldman*, 70 F. 3d at 1029.

In this case, although the Bankruptcy Court noted it was leaning more toward the trustees view, it saw "no reason that I ... should engage in an exercise in trying to determine how the Nevada Supreme Court would resolve this issue because applicable state law [on this issue] has not been determined by Nevada's highest court "(Ex. of Rec. '6' p.33, ln. 24-25 and p.34, ln. 1-3)

4. Kaplan's personal injury exemptions are valid.

In this case, the Nevada Revised Statutes provide: "payments in an amount not to exceed \$16,150, received as compensation for personal injury . . . by the judgment debtor." NRS 21.090(1)(u). Here, Kaplan seeks to exempt \$16,150 each from two separate personal injury claims under NRS 21.090(1)(u). Clearly, one of these claims is exempt. However, the Trustee is objecting to Kaplan's second personal injury claim of exemption.

5. Nevada law would allow both personal injury exemptions.

Though not deciding the issue, the Bankruptcy Court found the use of the word "payments" as opposed to "payment" significant (Ex. of Rec. '6' p.34, ln. 8 and 16). However, that still would not resolve the issue of allowing a debtor more than one personal injury exemption. In fact, the Bankruptcy Court even agreed one could exempt more than one personal injury case if the payments were less than \$16,150! "[T]hose payments could be for one injury, two injuries, or any number of injuries" (Ex. of Rec. '6' p.35, ln. 2-3). Thus, the court would have only limited the total amount of payments, not the number of personal injury claims, if it were deciding this issue.

But the problem is, that NRS 21.090(1)(u) does not say only *one* personal injury claim for \$16,150. Therefore, the answer to the question of whether a debtor can exempt two separate personal injury claims, can actually be found within NRS 21.090 itself. For instance, NRS 21.090(1)(f) specifically states a debtor is allowed to exempt *one* vehicle not to exceed \$15,000 in value. Thus, showing the Nevada legislature knew how to limit an exemption to only one and for a specific amount, if it desired to do so. Here, in relation to personal injury claims, it did not limited it to one claim for \$16,150. Therefore, a logical reading of the statute, is that it only limits each personal

injury claim to \$16,150.

While the Nevada legislature has specifically included a qualifier in NRS 21.090(1)(f), such an exclusion is absent from N.R.S. §21.090(1)(u). "It is a basic tenet of statutory construction that if the legislature includes a qualification in one statute, but omits the qualification in another related statute, it should be inferred that the omission was intentional." In re Norris 203 BR 463, 467 (Bankr. NV 1996), citing, see also *Ex Parte Arascada*, *44 Nev.* 30, 35, (1990) ("the failure of a statute to include a matter is an indication that exclusion was intended"). The often quoted maxim of statutory interpretation, *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, tells us that when a legislature "includes particular language in one section of a statute . . . it is generally presumed that [the legislature] acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or exclusion." Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983).

"It is assumed that the provisions of *N.R.S § 21.090*, the statutory scheme for exemptions, were carefully drafted; they are a result of a legislative drafting process which began in 1911 and they have been the subject of numerous legislative revisions since that time. Based upon this premise, this Court will not supply a statutory provision when it is reasonable to suppose the Legislature intended to

8

omit it." *Norris* at 467. Arguably, Nevada's statute, like the federal one, is not plain but is ambiguous as to whether it exempts more than one personal injury. However, the key is that it can be reconciled within itself, because the legislature did not restrict it to *one* personal injury claim. Therefore, Kaplan should be able to protect \$16,150 from each personal injury claim.

6. The majority of cases both state and the federal agree with Kaplan.

In discussing the law, the Bankruptcy Court erred when it summarily dismissed the handful of other cases that have decided this issue under the federal exemption found in 11 USC §522 (d)(11) or (12). (Ex. of Rec. '6' p.33, ln. 8-16) However, to the extent this Court seeks guidance on this issue from those few cases, the majority favor Kaplan by a four to two margin. For instance, in the case of *In re Marcus*, 172 BR 502 (Bankr. D.Conn. 1994), under the federal exemptions that use the word "payment", a debtor was allowed to exempt both of his personal injury claims up to the maximum amount in the statute. *Id* at 505. See also, *In re Comeaux*, 305 BR 802, 807 (Bankr.E.D. Tex. 2003)(same); and *In re Daly*, 344 BR 304 (Bankr. M.D. Penn. 2005). The other case that is in accord with the debtor's position is *In re Anderson* 932 P.2d 1110 (Okla. 1997) (state law). "We

find ... an Oklahoma debtor may exempt up to \$50,000 for each interest in a separate and distinct claim for personal injury". *Id* at 1115.

There is one circuit level case that has opined on this issue and favors the Trustee. See *In re Christo*, 192 F.3d 36 (1st Cir. 1999). In *Christo*, the debtor suffered three separate pre-petition accidents, and sought to exempt the sum of \$15,000 for each. In a 2-1 decision, the First Circuit ruled against the debtor. However, it is the dissent in *Christo* that makes the most sense. It noted, the "*Christo* majority ignore[d] the potentially horrendous impact multiple accidents could impose upon the financial circumstances of a single debtor,..." Comeaux at 807. And further, that the majority erroneously relied on In re Rhodes, 147 BR 443 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1992) in rendering its decision, because *Rhodes* was based upon a number of incorrect assumptions. To begin with, "Rhodes also referred to the fact that the statutory list of exemptions distinguishes between exempted and unexempted property by its nature and not number. . . [But] this proves little, however, as those subparagraphs in the federal statute enumerating property which may be aggregated list either groupings of types of property such as household furnishings, . . ., or certain enumerated property [such as an] interest in life insurance contracts. ..." Christo at 40 (dissent).

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Thus, the logic in the cases that allow a debtor to exempt more than one personal injury claim for the maximum amount, makes perfect sense. As, one court noted, it would be entirely rational "if a debtor lost one limb in one accident and another limb in another accident, the debtor should not be limited to one exemption" [for the entire amount]. *Marcus* at 505. Here, Mr. Kaplan should be allowed two personal injury exemptions for \$16,150 each.

VI

CONCLUSION

Exemptions are to be liberally construed. The legislature knows how to limit an exemption to one item when it wants to. Here, it chose not to limit the number of personal injury exemptions. Therefore, this Court should not put itself in place of the legislature and unnecessarily limit Kaplan's exemption.