SUPREME COURT NO. 69065

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID JOHN KAPLAN Appellant

- v -

FILED

APR 1 1 2016

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT BY __________ DEPLITY CLERKO

Chapter Seven Trustee, Allen Dutra Respondent

Bankruptcy Case No. BK-N-10-54568-GWZ

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

From the United States Bankruptcy Court District of Nevada

APR 1 1 2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COUR DEPUTY CLERK

MICHAEL LEHNERS, ESQ. 429 Marsh Ave. Reno, Nevada 89509 Nevada Bar Number 003331 (775) 786-1695 email michaellehners@yahoo.com

ż,

Attorney for Respondent Chapter Seven Trustee, Allen DEICEIVEN

16-11192

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID JOHN KAPLAN

Summary of Argument

The issue is not one of liberally construing exemptions in favor of the Debtor. Rather, the issue is one of statutory construction. Exemptions cannot exceed the language of the statute that created them. While it is true Mr. Kaplan had two separate accidents, the relevant statute exempts payments for "personal injury". The statute does not say each personal injury or each incident. To award the statutory cap for each event creates an exemption that is beyond the literal language of the statute.

Π

Statement regarding NRAP 28(b)

The Respondent accepts the Appellant's statement of issues, the statement of the case and the statement of facts.

Ш

Argument

1. APPELLANT MAY NOT APPLY RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION BECAUSE NRS 21.090(1)(u) IS NOT AMBIGUOUS.

The Appellant is correct that this exemption issue is governed by state, not federal, law. The Appellant is also correct that the Respondent bears the burden of objecting to an exemption, and that exemptions are to be liberally construed.

Where Appellant and Respondent disagree is the interpretation of NRS 21.090(1)(u). Appellant argues this statute does not say only one personal injury claim is exempt. Therefore, one must look to the remainder of NRS 21.090 to determine legislative intent. Appellant cites NRS 21.090(1)(f) which says a debtor may exempt one motor vehicle. By the use of the term "one", the Legislature knows how to limit an exemption numerically. That is, when a statute has a limitation in one section, but not another, it is to be assumed the omission was intentional.

While Appellant's statement of the legal principle is correct, it is simply not applicable in this situation.

Statutory construction begins with the language of the statute at issue. Here, NRS 21.090(1)(u) exempts:

Payments, in an amount not to exceed \$16,150, received as compensation for <u>personal injury</u>, not including compensation for pain and suffering or actual pecuniary loss, by the judgment debtor or by a person upon whom the judgment debtor is dependent at the time the payment is received.

Emphasis supplied

Issues of statutory construction are reviewed de novo. *State, Bus. & Indus. v. Granite Constr.*, 118 Nev. 83, 86, 40 P.3d 423, 425 (2002). When the words of the statute have a definite and ordinary meaning, a court will not look beyond the plain language of the statute, unless it is clear that this meaning was not intended. *Harris Associates v. Clark County School Dist.*, 119 Nev. 638, 81 P.3d 532, (Nev. 2003), citing *State v. Quinn*, 117 Nev. 709, 713, 30 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2001). However, if a statute is ambiguous, the plain meaning rule of statutory construction is inapplicable, and the drafter's intent becomes the controlling factor in statutory construction. Id. A statute's language is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation. *Orion Portfolio Services 2 LLC v. County of Clark ex rel. University Medical Center of Southern Nevada*, 126 Nev. 397, 245 P.3d 527, (Nev. 2010).

NRS 21.090(1)(u) is not ambiguous. It has two parts: (1) "Payments, in an amount not to exceed \$16,150 received as compensation for personal injury", and (2) "not including compensation for pain and suffering or actual pecuniary loss, by the judgment debtor or by a person upon whom the judgment debtor is dependent at the time the payment is received."

The first part defines the exemption. The second part limits its application. The first part is clear. What is exempt? Payments are exempt. How much in payments? \$16,150.00. What kind of payments? Those received as compensation for personal injury.

The second part is the exclusionary part of the statute. The payments cannot be compensation for pain and suffering or actual pecuniary loss.

To apply rules of statutory construction, the Appellant must first pass the "ambiguous" threshold. For a statute to be ambiguous there must be more than one reasonable interpretation. NRS 21.090(1)(u) is susceptible to only one interpretation which is \$16,150 is the absolute cap on payments for personal injury, whether or not there are multiple accidents or payments.

This interpretation is supported by the grammatical construction of the statute. The noun "payments" is modified by two adjectives. The first is the phrase "not to exceed \$16,150". The second adjective is the phrase "for personal injury". The two adjectives are not nouns. Rather, they each modify a noun. That noun is "payments", which is the property that is exempt.

The Respondent can not identify any language in the statute that suggests it is \$16,150 per incident. His argument is based upon statutory construction. Those principles are not triggered without first identifying more than one reasonable meaning.

2. THE BANKRUPTCY COURT PROPERLY SUSTAINED THE TRUSTEE'S OBJECTION TO THE DEBTOR'S AMENDED EXEMPTION.

Judge Zive referred this question under Nev. R. App. Pro. 5. However, he carefully read the briefs of the parties and set forth a detailed analysis on the record. The Trustee had cited *In re Rhodes* 147 B.R. 443 (Bkrtcy N.D. Illinois 1992) because it involved a state exemption for personal injury proceeds in a bankruptcy court. The Illinois statute grants each debtor the right to exempt "[t]he debtor's right to receive, or property that is traceable to, ... a payment, not to exceed \$7500 in value, on account of personal bodily injury of the debtor or an individual of whom the debtor was a dependent." Id at 445.

Mr. Rhodes claimed multiple \$7,500.00 exemptions for multiple accidents. The Court denied the exemption. The Court said what is exempted is the debtor's right to receive, or property that is traceable to a payment on account of personal bodily injury. This language exempts (1) the debtor's right to receive payment of a particular type and (2) property that is traceable to such a payment. The Court

found the nature of the payment is specified by the phrase "on account of personal bodily injury." Paragraph (h)(4) contains no language relating to the number of personal injuries. Accordingly, the statutory language, on its face, offers no support for an exemption that varies in amount depending on the number of personal injuries affecting a debtor. Id at 446.

While Nevada's statute uses the word payments, plural, and the Illinois statute used the word payment, singular, there was no basis to multiply the exemption based upon the number of incidents.

Judge Zive was persuaded by Judge Wedoff's reasoning in *Rhodes*, supra. "If you take a look at Rhodes where Judge Wedoff was resolving an Illinois statute, the word was "payment," singular. Nevada has used the plural. So unlike Gene Wedoff, Judge Wedoff, I would not have to apply any exception to that rule. So payments in an amount not to exceed 16,150. That not to exceed 16,150 in my mind clearly modifies the word "payments" received as compensation for personal injury. So now we know the amount and we know the nature of the exemption, personal injury. It doesn't say personal injuries. It doesn't indicate for more than one incident, two incidents, or ten incidents. It doesn't. It says you get a total of \$16,150 in payment for personal injury, and that those payments could be for one injury, two injuries, or any number of injuries. To me, it's relatively straightforward." Bankruptcy Court Transcript, pages 6-7.

NRS 21.090(1)(u) statute exempts payments for personal injury. The use of the plural, payments, envisions more than one settlement and more than one event. The term "payments" is modified by the phrase "in an amount not to exceed \$16,150". It does not matter how many times the Appellant was injured, because the aggregate payments are capped at \$16,150.

3. THE CASES INTERPRETING FEDERAL EXEMPTION LAW ARE NOT CONTROLLING

11 U.S.C. §522(d)(11) exempts "a payment, not to exceed \$22,975, on account of personal bodily injury, not including pain and suffering or compensation for actual pecuniary loss, of the debtor or an individual of whom

the debtor is a dependent". The cases are split on on whether or not multiple accidents authorize exempting more than the \$22,975 statutory cap.

However, Nevada is an "opt out" state. This makes the exemption issue one of state, not federal, law. More importantly, NRS 21.090(1)(d) differs from 11 U.S.C. §522(d)(11) in two important aspects. First, §522(d)(11) must be read in harmony with 11 U.S.C. §102(7), which is a federal rule of statutory construction. 11 U.S.C. §102(7) says "the singular includes the plural". Nevada has no such rule, and the cases that allow stacking under §522(d)(11) must recognize §102(7)'s directive. Secondly, §522(d) uses the term "aggregate" for some exemptions but not for others.

In re Comeaux, 305 B.R. 802, (Bankr. E.D. Tex. 2003) allowed the debtors to claim three separate personal injury exemptions under \$522(d)(11). The *Comeaux* court based its conclusion, in part, on its observation that Congress demonstrated its ability to utilize numeric and aggregate limits elsewhere in \$522and did not do so in \$522(d)(11)(D). NRS 21.090(1) does not use the term "aggregate".

IV

Conclusion

The rules of statutory construction and the directive that exemptions be liberally construed have limits. Principles of statutory construction are simply not applicable where the statute is unambiguous. A liberal construction cannot create exemptions out of whole cloth. Any cases that allow stacking of the federal personal injury exemption are not applicable here, even by analogy. The federal exemption uses a word not present in the state exemption, and the state exemption is not subject to the federal rule of statutory construction. For those reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests that Appellant's exemption be limited to \$16,150.